IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA,

Plaintiff and Respondent,

v.

RAUL O. GUERRERO,

Defendant and Appellant.

No. S253405

SUPREME COURT
FILED

MAY 2 9 2019

Jorge Navarrete Clerk

Deputy

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF ON THE MERITS

After the Unpublished Decision of the Court of Appeal, Sixth Appellate District, Case No. H041900 Affirming the Judgment of Conviction Filed December 5, 2018

> Santa Clara County Superior Court Case No. C1476320 The Hon. Linda R. Clark, Judge

> > The Sixth District Appellate Program, in association with:

QUESTION FOR REVIEW

Did the Court of Appeal properly apply the "some connection or relationship" test of *People v. Gonzales* (2018) 6 Cal.5th 44 in holding that appellant's conviction for identity theft precluded reducing his forgery conviction to a misdemeanor under the provisions of Proposition 47?

INTRODUCTION

Following a jury trial in September 2014, appellant suffered felony convictions for possession of stolen property (count 2) and forgery (count 4) and misdemeanor convictions for identity theft (count 1) and contempt of court (count 3.) As relevant here, the conviction on count 4 arose from appellant's possession of a counterfeit \$50 bill, and the conviction on count 1 arose from appellant's concurrent possession of a driver's license, a benefits card, and five checks.

After the voters approved Proposition 47 on November 4, 2014, the trial court sentenced appellant on January 5, 2015. The trial court found that Proposition 47 had reduced count 2 to a misdemeanor by operation of law, but did not make the same finding with respect to count 4. The court sentenced appellant to serve a four-year term (double the two-year midterm under the Three Strikes law) on count 4 and to concurrent two-month terms on counts 1, 2 and 3.

The Court of Appeal for the Sixth Appellate District ("Sixth District") denied appellant's claim for relief in *People v. Guerrero* (Oct. 11, 2016, H041900) [nonpub. opn.] (*Guerrero I.*) In *Guerrero I.*, the Sixth District found that the passage of Proposition 47 had not reduced appellant's forgery conviction to a misdemeanor by operation of law because he had also been convicted of identity theft. (*Id.* at pp. 8-16.) The Sixth District reasoned that "the identity theft exception to subdivision (b) of section 473 is not ambiguous and it applies where a defendant is concurrently convicted of both forgery and identity theft, as defined in section 530.5. That is what occurred in this case, and those convictions make subdivision (b) of section 473 inapplicable to defendant." (*Id.* at p. 13.)

On February 15, 2017, in Case No. S238401, this Court granted review of appellant's case with briefing deferred. On February 22, 2017, this Court ordered briefing on the following issue: What relationship, if any, must exist between convictions for forgery and

identity theft in order to exclude a forgery conviction from sentencing as a misdemeanor under Penal Code section 473, subdivision (b)?

Briefing in Case No. S238401 concluded June 2, 2017. However, on August 27, 2018, this Court decided a case presenting a similar issue, *People v. Gonzales* (2018) 6 Cal.5th 44 (*Gonzales*.) In *Gonzales*, this Court reviewed the meaning of section 473, subdivision (b) (hereafter section 473(b)), which provides, in its final sentence, that section 473(b)'s reduction of certain forgery offenses from wobblers to misdemeanors "shall not be applicable to any person who is convicted both of forgery and of identity theft, as defined in Section 530.5." (§ 473(b).) Deciding the scope of this "identity-theft" exception in section 473(b), this Court reasoned:

The relatively similar nature of the offenses mentioned in section 473(b) [...] suggests that the convictions in question must bear some meaningful relationship to each other — beyond the convictions' inclusion in the same judgment. Instead of including two entirely unrelated offenses — such as criminal violation of an environmental law and felony assault, for example — the provision at issue lists two offenses that tend to facilitate each other and, committed together, arguably trigger heightened law enforcement concerns.

(Gonzales, supra, 6 Cal.5th at p. 54.) This Court explained:

A person who commits forgery by imitating the victim's signature on a check, for example, will often present identification to falsely represent his or her identity.

The nature of these two offense categories helps explain why it makes sense for these to be included together in section 473(b), and for this provision to be read as relevant to situations where the offenses bear some relationship to each other.

(Id. at pp. 54-55.) Thus, this Court concluded:

We can reasonably distinguish — and infer a distinction in a statute mentioning related offenses in present tense — between foreclosing relief to those convicted of felony forgery that was also facilitated by the felony offense of identity theft, and barring relief for anyone who happens to have been convicted, at some point in his or her life, of unrelated forgery and identity theft offenses.

(Id. at p. 55.)

And, responding to the view of concurring justices that the identity-theft exception could only apply to identity theft and forgery offenses relating to the same financial instrument, this Court's majority again focused on the Legislature's use of the word "both" in the final sentence of section 473(b). (Gonzales, supra, 6 Cal.5th at p. 53 & fn. 6.) This Court reasoned:

Here, the term "both" establishes that *some connection or relationship* is necessary between a forgery and identity theft conviction to disqualify [the defendant] from the benefit of having his sentence recalled. [...]

(*Ibid*, emphasis added.) Applying its "some connection or relationship" test, this Court found that the *Gonzales* defendant's

identity theft offense in 2006 "did not occur 'in connection with'" his forgery offense in 2003. (*Gonzales, supra,* 6 Cal.5th at p. 56.)

Following issuance of *Gonzales*, on October 16, 2018, this Court ordered the instant matter "transferred to the Court of Appeal, Sixth Appellate District, with directions to vacate its decision and to reconsider the cause in light of the decision in [*Gonzales*]. [Citation.]" However, on December 5, 2018, in *People v. Guerrero* (Dec. 5, 2018, H041900) [nonpub. opn.] (*Guerrero II*), the Sixth District again denied relief, finding that "defendant contemporaneously possessed another person's personal identifying information and a fictitious \$50 bill. He was not entitled to be sentenced under 473(b) even though the *Estrada* rule applied to his forgery conviction." (*Id.* at p. 13.)

Appellant petitioned this Court for relief a second time, and in Case No. S253405, this Court accepted appellant's petition for review and ordered appellant to file an opening brief on the merits no later than May 30, 2019.

As appellant argues herein, the Sixth District has interpreted the controlling language of *Gonzales* too broadly. Appellant's concurrent possession of personal identifying information and a fictitious \$50 bill does not, without more, establish "some connection or relationship" between his identify theft and forgery offenses. This conclusion follows from the characteristics of the contraband items at issue, because another person's personal identifying

information cannot facilitate use of a counterfeit \$50 bill. Hence, this Court should make it clear that the "some relationship" test of *Gonzales* requires more than just two crimes committed at the same time. Application of the "identity theft exception" to the right to reclassification of a forgery wobbler to a misdemeanor requires some transactional connection between the forgery and the identify theft such that the latter crime facilitated the former crime. Since that is entirely absent here, this court should reverse the Court of Appeal's judgment and remand the matter to that court with directions that it be returned to the trial court for further proceedings consistent with this Court's holding.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. The Jury Trial and Sentence

In a second amended information filed September 4, 2014, the Santa Clara County District Attorney's Office alleged that appellant Raul O. Guerrero committed the offenses of obtaining and using personal identifying information of another (Pen. Code, § 530.5, subd. (c)(1)¹; count 1, a misdemeanor), concealing or withholding stolen property (§ 496, subd. (a); count 2), contempt of court (§ 166, subd. (a)(4); count 3, a misdemeanor), and forgery (§ 476; count 4.)

¹ All subsequent statutory citations are to the Penal Code, unless otherwise noted.

(1CT 154-157.2) The prosecution also alleged a "strike" (a prior robbery conviction) within the meaning of the Three Strikes law (§§ 667, subds. (b)-(i), 1170.12.) (1CT 154-157.) On September 10, 2014, a jury convicted appellant on all charges, and the trial court found the strike allegation true. (8RT 730-731, 744-745, 1CT 201-209.)

After the voters approved Proposition 47 on November 4, 2014, and before the court sentenced appellant on January 5, 2015, defense counsel filed a written request asking the court to reduce count 4 (forgery under § 476) from a felony to a misdemeanor pursuant to section 17, subdivision (b). (2CT 345-348.) The request stated that the offense was for possession of a counterfeit \$50 bill. (2CT 345-348.)

At the time of sentencing, the trial court denied the defense request to reduce count 4 to a misdemeanor pursuant to section 17, subdivision (b). (8RT 760.) The court explained the basis of its decision, namely that appellant stood convicted of multiple violations, he had "a long and virtually uninterrupted history of criminal conduct," and there was nothing in the circumstances of the offense to justify treating it as a misdemeanor. (8RT 760.) The court "recognize[d] that the single check that was made out to the

² 1RT – 6RT and 1CT – 2CT refer to the record filed in Case No. H041900 on April 28, 2015.

defendant" did not exceed \$950, but that was not "the test" under section 17, subdivision (b). (8RT 760.) The court also denied appellant's *Romero* motion to dismiss his prior strike.³ (8RT 760-766.)

The parties agreed that the passage of Proposition 47 had reduced count 2 (possession of stolen property) to a misdemeanor by operation of law, and the court deemed the offense a misdemeanor. (8RT 766-767.) The court sentenced appellant to a four-year term (double the two-year midterm under the Three Strikes law) on count 4 and to concurrent two-month terms on counts 1, 2 and 3. (8RT 767.)

B. Post-Sentencing Litigation

Appellant appealed the trial court's judgment to the Sixth District. On October 11, 2016, in *Guerrero I*, the Sixth District denied relief. On October 16, 2018, in Case No. S238401, this Court ordered the Sixth District to vacate its decision and to reconsider the cause in light of the decision in *Gonzales*, *supra*, 6 Cal.5th 44.

On December 5, 2018, in *Guerrero II*, the Sixth District again denied relief. On December 20, 2018, the Sixth District denied appellant's petition for rehearing. On March 13, 2019, in Case No. S253405, this Court granted appellant's second petition for review.

³ People v. Superior Court (Romero) (1996) 13 Cal.4th 497, 504.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS⁴

A. The Auto Burglary on February 3, 2014

In January 2014, Chris Boscia became the treasurer of the Saint Thomas More Society of Santa Clara County (STMS), a Catholic organization for judges, lawyers, law professors and law students. (7RT 494-495.) At that time, Boscia took possession of the STMS financial records, including a checkbook to a Chase Bank account, and he assumed sole responsibility for writing STMS checks. (7RT 497-498.)

On February 3, 2014, Boscia left the STMS financial records in his car, including the STMS checkbook. (7RT 498.) On the following morning, he discovered that the bag containing the records and STMS checkbook had been removed from his car. (7RT 498.)

B. Appellant's Arrest on February 12, 2014

On February 12, 2014, San Jose Police Department officers Wendy Hoskin and Nicholas Speaks investigated a reported disturbance in an apartment on Shortridge Avenue in San Jose. (6RT 231, 7RT 428.) The officers found appellant in his daughter's Leticia Guerrero's apartment, and arrested him for violation of a protective order. (6RT 232-233.)

⁴ This statement omits (1) evidence of appellant's violation of a protective order (count 3), (2) evidence of appellant's prior conduct, (3) evidence that unidentified persons had possessed stolen STMS checks, (4) the defense evidence, and (5) stipulations of fact relevant to the defense.

Officer Speaks searched appellant and removed a wallet from his jacket. (6RT 235-236, 7RT 430, 432-433; Exh. 5.) Correctional officer Richard Durand booked appellant into the county jail and searched his wallet. (6RT 246-247.) Durand found a driver's license belonging to a woman named Akimoto (Exh. 1), a benefits card belonging to Esteban Flores (Exh. 12), a counterfeit \$50 bill (Exh. 13) and five checks, including an STMS check. (6RT 232-233, 247-248, 250-254, 7RT 431-433.)

The STMS check (number 387) was made out for \$400, dated February 10, 2014, and listed a payee with the first name "Raul" and with an indecipherable last name that started with the letter "G." (6RT 248, 7RT 501-503, 519; Exh. 7.) What appeared to be appellant's signature is on the back of the check. (Exh. 7.) Boscia had not signed the check. (7RT 501.) At the time of trial, STMS had no vendors with the first name "Raul" and no one associated with STMS had authorized appellant to possess any STMS check. (7RT 501-502, 519.)

The four other personal checks found in appellant's wallet were from three individuals other than appellant. (6RT 248-249; Exh. 8-11.) One of the personal checks appeared to have been made out to "DMV Renewals," but the name of the original payee had been written over, and the check bore an illegible signature on the back. (Exh. 9.) Two of the checks belonged to Alberta Espinoza, who had lived in the same apartment complex as appellant's

daughter for a period of time in March 2013. (6RT 248; 8RT 633; Exh. 10, 11.) One of Espinoza's checks was made out to "Daniel Rosbach" in the amount of \$380 (Exh. 10) and the other check was blank. (Exh. 11.) A fourth personal check, written on the bank account of a third person, made \$200 payable to "Daniel Rosbach." (Exh. 8.) Both checks made payable to Rosbach bore illegible signatures on the back. (Exh. 8, Exh. 10.)

ARGUMENT

- I. THE SIXTH DISTRICT DID NOT PROPERLY APPLY THE "SOME CONNECTION OR RELATIONSHIP" TEST THIS COURT DEFINED IN *PEOPLE v. GONZALES* FOR WHEN AN IDENTITY THEFT CONVICTION PERMITS FELONY SENTENCING FOR CERTAIN FORGERY OFFENSES
 - A. The Relevant Legal Framework and Standard of Review

Appellant was convicted of forgery (count 4) under section 476, which provides: "Every person who makes, passes, utters, or publishes, with intent to defraud any other person, or who, with the like intent, attempts to pass, utter, or publish, or who has in his or her possession, with like intent to utter, pass, or publish, any fictitious or altered bill, note, or check, purporting to be the bill, note, or check, or other instrument in writing for the payment of money or property of any real or fictitious financial institution as defined in Section 186.9 is guilty of forgery." (§ 476.) Appellant was also convicted of identity theft (count 2) under section 530.5,

subdivision (a), which provides: "Every person who willfully obtains personal identifying information, as defined in subdivision (b) of Section 530.55, of another person, and uses that information for any unlawful purpose, including to obtain, or attempt to obtain, credit, goods, services, real property, or medical information without the consent of that person, is guilty of a public offense, and upon conviction therefor, shall be punished by a fine, by imprisonment in a county jail not to exceed one year, or by both a fine and imprisonment, or by imprisonment pursuant to subdivision (h) of Section 1170." (§ 530.5, subd. (a).)

Generally, forgery is a "wobbler" crime punishable either as a felony or a misdemeanor. (§ 473, subd. (a).) When voters enacted Proposition 47, the Penal Code gained a new provision reducing punishment to a misdemeanor for "forgery relating to a check, bond, bank bill, note, cashier's check, traveler's check, or money order, where the value of the check, bond, bank bill, note, cashier's check, traveler's check, or money order does not exceed nine hundred fifty dollars (\$950)." (§ 473(b).) But forgery remains a wobbler — and therefore an offense ineligible for reclassification as a misdemeanor under Proposition 47 — for "any person who is convicted both of forgery and of identity theft, as defined in Section 530.5." (*Ibid.*) This Court has construed the final sentence of section 473(b) to mean that an otherwise qualifying forgery offense remains a wobbler when there is "some connection or relationship" between an identity

theft offense and the forgery offense at issue. (*Gonzales, supra,* 6 Cal.5th at p. 53, fn. 6.)

Appellant contends that the Sixth District failed to properly apply this Court's "some connection or relationship" test applicable to section 473(b). The scope of section 473(b) is a question of law, so this Court reviews the Sixth District's interpretation of Proposition 47 de novo. (Apple Inc. v. Superior Court (2013) 56 Cal.4th 128, 135.) This Court's interpretation of a ballot initiative is governed by the same principles that apply in construing a statute enacted by the Legislature. (People v. Superior Court (Pearson) (2010) 48 Cal.4th 564, 571.) This Court first looks to "the language of the statute, affording the words their ordinary and usual meaning and viewing them in their statutory context." (Alcala v. Superior Court (2008) 43 Cal.4th 1205, 1216.) The words of a statute must be construed in context, keeping in mind the statutory purpose. (Carmack v. Reynolds (2017) 2 Cal.5th 844, 849-850.) This Court's principal objective is giving effect to the intended purpose of the initiative's provisions. (California Cannabis Coalition v. City of Upland (2017) 3 Cal.5th 924, 933 [explaining that this Court's "primary concern is giving effect to the intended purpose of the provisions at issue"].) If the provisions remain ambiguous after this Court considers its text and the statute's overall structure, this Court may consider extrinsic sources, such as an initiative's election materials, to glean the electorate's intended purpose. (*Larkin v. W.C.A.B.* (2015) 62 Cal.4th 152, 158

["[W]e may look to various extrinsic sources ... to assist us in gleaning the [voters'] intended purpose"].) Finally, this Court presumes that the "adopting body" is aware of existing laws when enacting a ballot initiative. (*In re Lance W.* (1985) 37 Cal.3d 873, 890, fn. 11.)

B. This Court's "Some Connection or Relationship" Test Described in *People v. Gonzales*

In *Gonzales*, *supra*, 6 Cal.5th 44, in a single consolidated proceeding, the defendant pleaded guilty to multiple offenses stemming from three different cases, including pleas of guilty to four counts of check forgery arising from possession and use in 2003 of counterfeit driver's licenses, currency and checks, and a plea of guilty to one count of identity theft arising from use in 2006 of personal identifying information of six individuals to open fraudulent telephone accounts while in custody. (*Id.* at pp. 46-47.)

After California voters enacted Proposition 47, the *Gonzales* defendant petitioned the trial court to reduce his forgery convictions to misdemeanors under new procedures contained in section 473(b). (*Gonzales*, *supra*, 6 Cal.5th at p. 46.) The trial court denied his petition, but the Court of Appeal for the Third Appellate District ("Third District") reversed, holding that section 473(b) precludes relief only if an identity theft offense is "transactionally related" to a forgery conviction. (*Ibid*, citing *People v. Gonzales* (2016) 6

Cal.App.5th 1067, 1069, review granted February 15, 2017, S240044, aff'd. on another ground (2018) 6 Cal.5th 44.)

On the Attorney General's appeal, this Court affirmed the Third District's opinion, but on different grounds. (*Gonzales, supra, 6* Cal.5th at p. 56.) This Court's majority differed with the Third District and with concurring justices Corrigan and Chin regarding the scope of the identity theft exception to section 473(b). Justices Corrigan and Chin reasoned that only an identity theft offense relating to the *same instrument* as the forgery offense at issue could disqualify an otherwise-qualified forgery offense from mandatory treatment as a misdemeanor. The concurring justices reasoned:

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