SUPREME COURT COPY

SUPREME COURT In the Supreme Court of the State of California D

JUL 24 2019

Jorge Navarrete Clerk

THE PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA,

Plaintiff and Respondent,

Case No. S253405

v.

RAUL OSUNA GUERRERO,

Defendant and Appellant.

Sixth Appellate District, Case No. H041900 Santa Clara County Superior Court, Case No. C1476320 The Honorable Linda R. Clark, Judge

ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

XAVIER BECERRA
Attorney General of California
JEFFREY M. LAURENCE
Senior Assistant Attorney General
SETH K. SCHALIT
Supervising Deputy Attorney General
LISA ASHLEY OTT
Deputy Attorney General
State Bar No. 164811
455 Golden Gate Avenue, Suite 11000
San Francisco, CA 94102-7004

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

ARGUMENT

I. APPELLANT'S FORGERY AND IDENTITY THEFT OFFENSES WERE UNDERTAKEN IN CONNECTION WITH EACH OTHER

Appellant's convictions of forgery and identity theft satisfy the test set forth in *Gonzales*.

A. Appellant's Forgery and Identity Theft Convictions Satisfy *Gonzales*

Under *Gonzales*, the identity theft exception of section 473(b) applies where "the offenses resulting in defendant's forgery and identity theft

convictions" were "undertaken 'in connection with' each other." (*People v. Gonzales, supra*, 6 Cal.5th at p. 56.)

As courts routinely do in applying a legal test to the facts of a specific case, a court should consider the totality of the circumstances of the identity theft and forgery convictions at issue in determining whether they were "undertaken 'in connection with' each other." (See, e.g., *People v. Farwell* (2018) 5 Cal.5th 295, 298 [a plea is valid "if the record affirmatively shows that it is voluntary and intelligent under the totality of the circumstances"]; *People v. Clark* (2016) 63 Cal.4th 533, 556 [considering whether an unduly suggestive identification procedure was nevertheless reliable "under the totality of the circumstances"]; *People v. Williams* (2010) 49 Cal.4th 405, 425 [determining whether waiver of right to remain silent was voluntary, knowing, and intelligent "under the totality of the circumstances"].)

For applications of the *Gonzales* test, such circumstances might include, among other factors, whether the convictions are linked in time or place, whether the crimes required an identical or similar intent, whether the same course of conduct played a significant part in both convictions, and whether the crimes facilitated one another or shared some other transactional relationship. Applying the *Gonzales* test to the facts of this case, the Sixth District correctly found that appellant's forgery and identity theft convictions were "undertaken in connection with' each other."

Appellant was convicted of forgery based on his possession of a counterfeit bank bill with the intent to defraud, and with identity theft based on his possession of other people's personal identifying information with the intent to defraud. (1CT 154-157; 8RT 730-731; §§ 476, 530.5, subd. (c)(1).) Unlike the defendant in *Gonzales*, appellant perpetrated the forgery and the identity theft at the same time and in the same location: He possessed the counterfeit bill and personal identifying information together in his wallet. (6RT 232-233, 247-251, 261; 7RT 430, 437.) Moreover,

both the forgery and identity theft convictions were possessory offenses committed with the same requisite intent to defraud. (Compare § 476 [proscribing the "possession" of any fictitious bill with "intent to defraud any other person"] with § 530.5, subd. (c)(1) [proscribing the "possession" of personal identifying information "with the intent to defraud"].)

The connection between the two offenses is further demonstrated by the overlap in the evidence required to prove each crime. The counterfeit bill and the personal identifying information (on which appellant's forgery and identity theft convictions were respectively based) were found in appellant's wallet during the same search of his belongings. Thus, the evidence used to establish possession (i.e., that it was appellant's wallet and that he was in possession of it) was the same as to both offenses. (See 6RT 231-274; 7RT 427-445, 459-474). There was also considerable overlap in the evidence used to establish the requisite proof of intent to defraud for each offense. The prosecution called three witnesses pursuant to Evidence Code section 1101, subdivision (b). (6RT 150-151, 285-308; 7RT 475-483.) The jury learned that, in June 2013, police had found two social security cards of third persons in appellant's wallet. (6 RT 285-286, 289.) One of those people told police that he had lost his card and that appellant did not have permission to possess it. (7 RT 453, 457-458.) And, the social security number on the other card had been used by 40 to 42 other people. (7 RT 448-449.) The jury also learned about a search in November 2013. in which police found seven counterfeit bills in appellant's wallet. (6 RT 292-293.)

Considering the totality of these facts and circumstances, the Sixth District on remand properly concluded that the *Gonzales* test was met as "a meaningful connection or relationship existed" between appellant's forgery offense and his identity theft offense, "both crimes of possession" wherein appellant "contemporaneously possessed another person's personal

identifying information and a fictitious \$50 bill." (Guerrero II, supra, at p. 13.)

B. Section 473(b) Does Not Require That the Identity Theft Facilitated the Forgery

Appellant contends that section 473(b)'s exception applies only where the identity theft "facilitated" the forgery. (OBM 12.) But section 473(b) does not contain any such language, and *Gonzales* did not include such a requirement in its "in connection with" test. Nor is such a requirement necessary in order to fulfill the statutory purpose of section 473(b) that *Gonzales* identified.

1. Nothing in section 473(b) suggests a facilitating relationship requirement

Reading a facilitating relationship requirement into section 473(b) is not reasonable given the statutory language.

The interpretation of a ballot initiative is governed by the same principles that apply in construing a statute enacted by the Legislature. (Gonzales, supra, 6 Cal.5th at p. 49.) "We first look to 'the language of the statute, affording the words their ordinary and usual meaning and viewing them in their statutory context.' [Citation.] The words of a statute must be construed in context, keeping in mind the statutory purpose. [Citation.] Our principal objective is giving effect to the intended purpose of the initiative's provisions. [Citation.] If the provisions remain ambiguous after we consider its text and the statute's overall structure, we may consider extrinsic sources, such as an initiative's election materials, to glean the electorate's intended purpose. [Citation.] Finally, we presume that the 'adopting body' is aware of existing laws when enacting a ballot initiative. [Citation.]" (Id. at pp. 49-50.)

Here, nothing from the statutory language or context of section 473(b) suggests that a defendant's forgery and identity theft convictions in addition

to occurring "in connection with" each other, must also have a facilitating relationship with one another such that the forgery is facilitated by the identity theft. If the statute's language is "clear and unambiguous there is no need for construction, and courts should not indulge in it." (*People v. Belleci* (1979) 24 Cal.3d 879, 884, internal quotation marks omitted.) This Court has "declined to follow the plain meaning of a statute only when it would inevitably have frustrated the manifest purposes of the legislation as a whole or led to absurd results." (*Ibid.*)

A statutory provision is only ambiguous when susceptible to more than one reasonable interpretation. (People v. Dieck (2009) 46 Cal.4th 934, 940.) "Absent ambiguity, [it is] presume[d] that the voters intend the meaning apparent on the face of an initiative measure and the court may not add to the statute or rewrite it to conform to an assumed intent that is not apparent in its language." (Professional Engineers in California Government v. Kempton (2007) 40 Cal.4th 1016, 1037, internal quotation marks omitted.) Moreover, courts "may not, under the guise of construction, rewrite the law or give the words an effect different from the plain and direct import of the terms used." (California Fed. Savings & Loan Assn. v. City of Los Angeles (1995) 11 Cal.4th 342, 349.)

Here, the statutory language of section 473(b) contains no ambiguity regarding whether a facilitative relationship is required. Indeed, nothing in section 473(b)'s phrase "is convicted both of" even remotely speaks to such a demand. Hence, requiring such a relationship would necessitate adding language to the statute. But "the cardinal rule of statutory construction" is "that courts must not add provisions to statutes." (*People v. Guzman* (2005) 35 Cal.4th 577, 587, internal quotation marks omitted.)

2. Gonzales did not suggest a "facilitation" requirement

In *Gonzales*, this Court looked to the use of the word "both" in section 473(b) to conclude that some connection between the forgery and identity theft convictions is required. (*Gonzales*, 6 Cal.5th at p. 51 ["As used in this provision, the term 'both' establishes that a relationship is necessary between a forgery and identity theft conviction to disqualify an offender from the benefit of having his or her sentence recalled"].) Nothing about the term "both," however, implies that a facilitative relationship must exist between the convictions.

Gonzales noted that unlike "two entirely unrelated offenses—such as criminal violation of an environmental law and felony assault, for example,"—identity theft and forgery "tend to facilitate each other and, committed together, arguably trigger heightened law enforcement concerns." (Gonzales, supra, 6 Cal.5th at p. 54.) "A person who commits forgery by imitating the victim's signature on a check, for example, will often present identification to falsely represent his or her identity." (*Ibid.*) The Court further explained: "The nature of these two offense categories helps explain why it makes sense for these to be included together in section 473(b), and for this provision to be read as relevant to situations where the offenses bear some relationship to each other. We can reasonably distinguish—and infer a distinction in a statute mentioning related offenses in present tense—between foreclosing relief to those convicted of felony forgery that was also facilitated by the felony offense of identity theft, and barring relief for anyone who happens to have been convicted, at some point in his or her life, of unrelated forgery and identity theft offenses." (Id. at pp. 54-55.)

Based, in part, on its illustrative analysis of the joint occurrence of identity theft with forgery, the Court concluded that the convictions must

occur "in connection with" each other for the defendant to be ineligible for resentencing under Proposition 47 and that the connection is lacking where convictions involve unrelated conduct that was years apart. (*Gonzales*, supra, 6 Cal.5th at pp. 55-56.) The Court nowhere suggested that joint occurrences of these crimes is likewise insufficient absent facilitation of the forgery by the identity theft. That cannot be squared with the Court's considered rejection in *Gonzales* of both the transactionally related standard that the Court of Appeal had adopted, as well as the same-forged-instrument test that was suggested by the concurrence. (*Id.* at pp. 46, 49, 53 & fn. 6.)

3. No facilitative relationship is necessary to fulfill the statutory purpose of section 473(b)

Proposition 47's overarching purpose included "ensur[ing] that prison spending is focused on violent and serious offenses' and 'maximizing alternatives for nonserious, nonviolent crime[s]." (Gonzales, supra, 6 Cal.5th. at p. 56.) Gonzales did not find that this overarching purpose required a transactional relationship between the forgery and identity theft convictions for the identity theft exception to apply. (Id. at p. 53 & fn. 6.) Under this same reasoning, a facilitative relationship requirement is not necessary to prevent the frustration of the statute's purpose. Significantly, while the Act seeks to focus prison spending on violent and serious offenses, those goals did not induce the voters to reduce all nonserious, nonviolent felonies to misdemeanors. Rather, voters limited the Act's reach to certain felony offenses. (Voter Guide, supra, text of Prop. 47, §§ 5-13, pp. 71-73 [amending eight offenses and adding the crime of shoplifting]; see also id., § 17, subd. (a), p. 74 [stating that "[t]his act changes the penalties associated with certain nonserious, nonviolent crimes"]; id., analysis of Prop. 47 by the Legislative Analyst, p. 35 ["This

measure reduces certain nonserious and nonviolent property and drug offenses from wobblers or felonies to misdemeanors].)

For example, automobile burglary, identity theft, and firearm possession offenses were unaffected by the Act, as were felonies in codes other than the Penal Code and the Heath and Safety Code. (Voter Guide, *supra*, text of Prop. 47, §§ 4-14, pp. 70-74.) Section 473(b) demonstrates that as with those other unamended, nonserious, nonviolent offenses, voters chose not to reduce the crime of forgery to a misdemeanor under all circumstances. Specifically, forgery remains punishable as a felony when the value of the instrument exceeds \$950, when the offender has been convicted of a so-called "super strike" offense or a crime requiring sex offender registration, or when the offender "is convicted both of forgery and of identity theft, as defined in Section 530.5." (§ 473, subds. (a), (b).)

The identity theft exception reflects the voters' intent to maintain forgery as a wobbler for individuals who, by also committing identity theft, demonstrate a greater commitment to their criminal enterprise than those who commit only a forgery offense. Gonzales's recognition that forgery and identity theft "tend to facilitate each other and, committed together, arguably trigger heightened law enforcement concerns" (Gonzales, supra, 6 Cal.5th at p. 55) illustrated this principle. This illustration, however, cannot be viewed as a comprehensive statement of the conditions in which the exception applies given that law enforcement concerns will also be triggered in circumstances in which no facilitative relationship exists. For example, a defendant may be found in possession of the personal identifying information of one person and an altered check of another person. The particular personal identifying information would not facilitate fraud as to the particular altered check—but the combination of offenses undoubtedly should "trigger heightened law enforcement concerns." Indeed, it is hard to imagine why voters would have wanted to treat such a

defendant—who is evidently engaged in broad and wide-ranging efforts to defraud multiple victims—more leniently than someone who possessed identifying information and a forged instrument relating to a single person.

Moreover, appellant's narrow construction of the identity theft exception would render the exception effectively meaningless in some cases. For example, the identity theft exception could not apply to a "forgery relating to a . . . bank bill" unless the defendant were additionally convicted of stealing the identity of the United States Treasurer or the Secretary of the Treasury. (§ 473(b); see People v. Maynarich (2016) 248 Cal. App. 4th 77, 80 ["counterfeit United States Federal Reserve notes are 'bank bills' or 'notes'"].) Similarly, while the identity theft exception applies to bonds, a forged bearer bond is not issued in an owner's name and would not be covered under appellant's construction of the exception unless the offender was also convicted of stealing the issuer's identity. (Garcia v. McCutchen (1997) 16 Cal.4th 469, 476 ["the rule of statutory interpretation that requires [courts], if possible, to give effect and significance to every word and phrase of a statute" and to "presume that the [drafters] intended every word, phrase and provision . . . in a statute . . . to have meaning and to perform a useful function" (internal quotation marks omitted)].)

Appellant's narrow construction of the identity theft exception is even more problematic when the identity theft statute is examined. Only one type of identity theft defined in section 530.5 involves an offender's obtaining and using someone else's personal identifying information (§ 530.5, subd. (a)); the remaining provisions criminalize the acquisition, retention, or sale of personal identifying information with the intent to defraud and mail theft (§ 530.5, subds. (c)-(e)). This too points against appellant's construction of the identity theft exception as requiring a facilitative relationship. If voters intended to limit the exception to forgeries that were facilitated by identity thefts, they would have restricted

the exception to persons convicted of identity theft as defined in Penal Code section 530.5, *subdivision* (a).

C. Appellant's Analogies to *People v. Harvey's* Rule on Plea-Bargain Sentencing and Rules on Joinder Are Misplaced

Appellant argues for a facilitative or transactional relationship by analogy to the tests applied in two very different circumstances.

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